
 

 

County Buildings, Stafford 
DDI 01785 276901 

Please ask for Zach Simister 
Email: zachary.simister@staffordshire.gov.uk 

 

 

 
Countryside and Rights of Way Panel 
 

Friday 11 March 2022 
11:00 

Oak Room, County Buildings, Stafford 
 

The meeting will be webcast live which can be viewed at any time here:  
https://staffordshire.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 

John Tradewell 
Director of Corporate Services 

3 March 2022 

 

 

A G E N D A 
 

1.  Apologies  

   
2.  Declaration of Interest in accordance with Standing 

Order 16.2 

 

   

3.  Minutes of meeting held on 18 February 2022 (Pages 1 - 4) 
   

4.  Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 - Public Footpath 
from Public Bridleway 25 to Public Bridleway 13, 
Colwich Parish 

(Pages 5 - 64) 

   
 Report of the Director for Corporate Services.  

   
5.  Exclusion of the public  

   
 The Chairman to move:- 

 
“That the public be excluded from the meeting for the following 
items of business which involve the likely disclosure of exempt 

information as defined in the paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A 
(as amended) of the Local Government Act 1972 indicated below”. 

______________________________________________________ 
 

Part Two 
(All reports in this section are exempt) 

 

   
6.  Exempt minutes of the meeting held on 18 February 

2022 
(Pages 65 - 66) 

   
 (Exemption paragraph 2, 6a & 6b)  



 

   
7.  Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Section 53 

Modification Order Applications - Update 

 

   

 Verbal update of the Director for Corporate Services. 
 

(Exemption paragraph 2, 6a and 6b) 

 

   

 
 

Membership 
 

Jak Abrahams 

David Smith 
Paul Snape 

 

Jill Waring 

Mark Winnington (Chairman) 
 

 

Notes for Members of the Press and Public 
 

Filming of Meetings 
 
Staffordshire County Council is defined as a Data Controller under the Data 

Protection Act 2018. The County Council has agreed that Public meetings should 

be the subject of live web transmission ‘webcasting’. Fixed cameras are located 
within meeting room for this purpose.  

 
The webcast will be live on the County Council’s website and recorded for 

subsequent play-back for 12 months. The recording will also be uploaded to 

YouTube. By entering the meeting room and using the seats around the meeting 
tables you are deemed to be consenting to being filmed and to the possible use 

of those images and sound recordings for the purpose of webcasting.  

 
If you have privacy concerns about the webcast or do not wish to have your 

image captured then please contact the Member and Democratic Services officer 

named at the top right of the agenda. 

 
Recording by Press and Public 
 

Recording (including by the use of social media) by the Press and Public is 
permitted from the public seating area provided it does not, in the opinion of 

the chairman, disrupt the meeting.  
 



 

- 1 - 
 

Minutes of the Countryside and Rights of Way Panel Meeting held on 
18 February 2022 

 
Present: Mark Winnington (Chairman) 

 

Attendance 
 

David Smith 
Paul Snape 

 

Jill Waring 
 

 
Apologies: Jak Abrahams 

 
PART ONE 

 
66. Declaration of Interest in accordance with Standing Order 16.2 
 

There were no Declarations of Interest on this occasion. 
 

67. Minutes of meeting held on 28 January 2022 
 

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 28 January 2022 be 
confirmed and signed by the Chairman. 

 
68. Highways Act 1980, Section 119 Proposed Diversion of Public 
Footpaths, Quarnford no.29 (part) and No.34 (part) at Glead Tail, 

Quarnford 
 

The Panel considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive and Director for 
Families and Communities regarding the proposed diversion of Public 

Footpaths, Quarnford NO.29 (part) & No.34 (part) at Glead Tail, Quarnford. 
 

The report was presented verbally to take Members through the various 
legislative criteria. It was reported that the owners of Glead Tail had applied 
to Staffordshire County Council on 18th June 2020 to divert the footpaths 

away from the residential property and garden onto the alignment shown by 
a by a broken black line A-E-D and C-F-D on Plan 1 within appendix A in the 

report. The Panel were advised that the applicants considered that the 
application would increase their privacy and enjoyment of the outside areas 

of the property and reduce the feeling of intrusiveness for members of the 
public using the footpaths. 

 
RESOLVED – That (a) the Deputy Chief Executive and Director for Families 
and Communities be authorised to make an Order under Section 119 of the 

Highways Act 1980 to divert part of Public Footpaths No 20 (pt) & No 34 (pt) 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 

- 2 - 
 

at Glead Tail in the Parish of Quarnford as shown on Plan 1 attached to the 
report.  

 
69. Highways Act 1980 - Section 118 & 119 Proposed Concurent 

Diversion & Extinguishment Orders Public Footpaths - Tamworth 81 c 
and 83 at Wilnecote Quarry Tamworth 

 
The Panel considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive and Director for 

Families and Communities regarding the proposed Concurrent Diversion & 
Extinguishment Orders Public Footpaths, Tamworth 81c and 83 at Wilnecote 
Quarry Tamworth. 

 
The report was presented verbally to take Members through the various 

legislative criteria. It was reported that the previous owners of the Wilnecote 
Quarry site obtained planning permission to undertake quarrying works 

however failed to obtain the necessary permissions to divert or extinguish 
the affected sections of Public Footpaths, Tamworth 81c and 83 where they 

cross the quarry site. It was reported that as a result, parts of these two 
footpaths have been destroyed by the quarrying operations and there was no 
reasonable chance of the footpaths being reinstated. 

 
The Panel were advised that the current site owners have submitted an 

application to concurrently divert the parts of Public Footpaths, Tamworth No 
81c and 83 shown by a solid black line (A-B-C) On Plan 1 at appendix A in 

the report onto the alignment shown by a broken black line (A-C) on Plan 1 
at appendix A in the report. 

 
RESOLVED – That (a) the Deputy Chief Executive and Director for Families 
and Communities be authorised to make concurrent Order sunder Section 

119 of the Highways Act 1980 to divert and extinguish parts of Public 
Footpaths No81c & No 83 at Wilnecote Quarry in the Parish of Tamworth as 

shown on Plans 1 & 2 attached to the report.  
 

70. Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 - Application for the Addition 
of an Alleged Public Right of Way from Ivetsey Road to Bellhurst Lane, 

Wheaton Aston 
 
The Panel considered a report of the Director of Corporate Services regarding 

an application from Mrs S C Bonner for a modification order under Section 53 
of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 for a Public Bridleway from Ivetsey 

Road to Bellhurst Lane, Wheaton Aston. 
 

The report was presented verbally to take Members through the various legal 
documentary and historical evidence relevant to the application. The Director 

also made reference to case law which dealt with the weight to be given to 
the evidence and gave guidance on the legal tests which they should apply. 
In applying these tests, Members were made aware that they should 

Page 2



 

- 3 - 
 

examine the evidence in its totality. During their consideration of the 
application, Members had regard to the Appendices attached to the report 

including; (i) User Evidence forms; (ii) Salient Points from User Evidence 
forms; (iii) Six Pieces of Documentary Evidence; (iv) Former Landowner 

Evidence form; (v) Statutory Consultee Evidence and (vi) Letter from 
Staffordshire County Council. 

 
The Panel Decided that that the available evidence was sufficient to conclude 

that a Public Bridleway from Ivetsey Road to Bellhurst Lane, Wheaton Aston 
subsisted and therefore should be added to the Definitive Map and 
Statement of Public Rights of Way as such. 

 
DECISION – That (a) the evidence submitted by the Applicant and that 

discovered by the County Council was sufficient to show that on the balance 
of probabilities a Public Bridleway from Ivetsey Road to Bellhurst Lane, 

Wheaton Aston which is not shown on the Definitive Map and Statement 
subsisted. 

 
(b) an Order be made to add the alleged Right of Way shown on the plan 
attached at Appendix B and marked C to D to the Definite Map and 

Statement of Public Rights of Way for the District of Stafford as a Public 
Bridleway. 

 
71. Exclusion of the public 

 
RESOLVED – That the public be excluded from the meeting for the following 

items of business which involve the likely disclosure of exempt information 
as defined in the paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12 A (as amended) of the 
Local Government Act 1972 indicated below. 

 
72. Exempt minutes of the meeting held on 28 January 2022 

 
RESOLVED – That the exempt minutes of the meeting held on 28 January 

2022 be confirmed and signed by the Chairmen. 
 

73. Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Section 53 Modification Order 
Applications - Update 
 

(Exemption paragraphs 2, 6a & 6b) 
 

 
 

 
Chairman 

 

Page 3





 Page 1 

 

 

 

 

Countryside and Rights of Way Panel   

 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981  

Alleged Public Footpath from Public Bridleway 25 to Public Bridleway 13, 

Colwich Parish 

Report of the Director for Corporate Services 

Recommendation 

1. That the evidence submitted by the Applicant and that discovered by the County 

Council is not sufficient to conclude that the alleged Public Footpath which is not 

shown on the Definitive Map and Statement subsists along the route marked A 

to B on the map attached at Appendix B and so should not be added to the 

Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way as such. 

That an Order should not be made to add the alleged route shown marked A to 

B on the map attached at Appendix B to the Definitive Map and Statement of 

Public Rights of Way. 

PART A 

Why is it coming here – What decision is required? 

1. Staffordshire County Council is the authority responsible for maintaining the 

Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way as laid out in section 53 of 

the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (“the 1981 Act”). Determination of 

applications made under the Act to modify the Definitive Map and Statement of 

Public Rights of Way, falls within the terms of reference of the Countryside and 

Rights of Way Panel of the County Council’s Regulatory Committee (“the Panel”). 

The Panel is acting in a quasi-judicial capacity when determining these matters 

and must only consider the facts, the evidence, the law and the relevant legal 

tests. All other issues and concerns must be disregarded.  

2. To consider an application attached at Appendix A from the Applicant for an 

Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement for the District of Colwich. The 

effect of such an Order, should the application be successful, would: 

(i)  Add an alleged Public Footpath between points A to B on the plan at 

Appendix B to the Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way under the provisions 

of Section 53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

3. To decide, having regard to and having considered the Application and all the 

available evidence, and after applying the relevant legal tests, whether to accept 

or reject the application. 

Evidence Submitted by the Applicant  

Local Members’ Interest 

Cllr John Francis Stafford - Trent Valley 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 Page 2 

 

4. The Applicant submitted two deposited railway plans for the Stafford and 

Rugby Railway dated 1840, together with an accompanying extract from the 

Branch Book of Reference. These can be found at Appendix C. 

5. The Applicant submitted Ordnance Survey maps dated 1817, 1894, 1902 and 

1924.These can be found at Appendix D. 

6. The Applicant has submitted a further copy of the Ordnance Survey map of 

1817 with the route highlighted in red. This can be found at Appendix E.   

7. The Applicant has submitted a traced plan accompanying the Tithe Award 

1845, made in the year 1839 by JD Lofthouse. This is a Stafford Record Office 

document ref: D1274/2. This can be found at Appendix F. 

8. The Applicant has submitted a copy of the Online map which shows the current 

numbered paths located within the area. This can be found at Appendix G. 

9. The Applicant has submitted typed notes from the Staffordshire Record Office. 

These can be found at Appendix H. 

Evidence Discovered by the County Council  

10. Officers have discovered an 1820s map of the Beau Desert Estate This plan 

was copied by JL Gibbons of Walsall in 1863. This can be found at Appendix I 

Evidence Submitted by the Landowner 

11. One Landowner was identified by the Applicant being Staffordshire County 

Council. 

12. A further landowner, Mr P Till was later identified and he has submitted 

evidence through Birketts Solicitors. This can be found at Appendix J. 

Comments Received from Statutory Consultees 

13. The Ramblers Association supported the Application stating - “regarding a 

proposed upgrade for a footpath between Bridleway 25 and 13 we support this 

amendment.” This was received from Mr Bell on behalf of the said Association. 

This can be found at Appendix K 

14. The Byways and Bridleways trust also supported the application stating they 

“support Mr Reay’s Application“.  This was signed by Mr Rowley on behalf of 

the Trust and can be found at Appendix L 

Comments on Evidence   

15. The evidence that the Applicant supplied, and which is referred to in the 

Application are two deposited railway plans.  

16. The railway plans can be read in conjunction with the Book of Reference which 

provides the status and maintenance of the ways and the ownership of land 

over which the alleged route crosses. In relation to the orientation in both of the 

railway plans, the Public Highway runs from East to West and a short stretch of 

road leads off the Public Highway at right angles in a southerly direction. (The 

actual orientation of the public highway (known as the A513) is North-Westerly, 

South-Easterly with the short stretch of road leading in a South-Westerly 

Page 6



 Page 3 

 

direction). For ease of understanding however, your Officers are using the 

orientation as per the Railway plans).  

17. A short stretch of road runs concurrently with Bridleway 25 and is categorised 

as a Public Road within the extract from the Book of Reference. Both the 

Highway and the Public Road were reported to be overseen at the time by the 

Surveyor of Highways for Shugborough.  At the end of the short stretch of Public 

Road the alleged route commences in a southerly direction.  

18. The footpath on the larger scale railway plan has been labelled “Common Lane 

and Footway to Brockton”. The line of the footpath shown on the railway plan 

only shows the commencement of the claimed right of way from where it leaves 

Bridleway 25. The route identified however is shown to follow a southerly 

direction relatively close to, and parallel with the length of a large pool and the 

northerly edge of a second pool immediately to its East. There is no further 

evidence provided by this document. 

19. The second Stafford and Rugby Railway plan is a smaller scale copy which 

shows the route labelled on the map as “Footway to Brocton”. Once again 

however the path is limited to an illustration of the commencement of the route 

and nothing further assists with understanding the direction or length of the 

claimed right of way.  

20. The Applicant also provided a copy of a two-inch Ordnance Survey map dated 

1817. This map although difficult to read could appear to show a visible feature 

on the ground leading off what is now known as the A513, in a southerly 

direction (in accordance with the plan orientation) narrowing down to become a 

feature close to and parallel with what is understood to be large pools 

(identified in the Railway plan), which are immediately to its East. The feature 

runs to the East of Beggars Hill and therefore runs between the Hill and the 

pools. At the southerly end of the southerly pool, the visible feature on the map 

turns almost at right angles Westerly and then South Westerly where the 

Applicant suggests the claimed route meets up with what is now known as 

Bridleway 13. This plan is the only one which appears to show the claimed 

route. It does not however confirm whether this is a public or private way. 

21. The Applicant has supplied further evidence which includes an 1894 Ordnance 

Survey map although this does not appear to show the alleged route, although 

there are visible features at the start of the route for about 20 metres. He has 

also supplied Ordnance Survey plans of 1902 and 1924 which do not show any 

suggestion of features for the claimed footpaths on the plans.  

22. The Applicant has also supplied a tracing of the Tithe Map which shows the 

field numbers at the time of the survey which would have corresponded with a 

book of reference. However, no narrative from the Award has been supplied 

and the plan itself does not appear to show the claimed route.  

23. Furthermore, the Applicant has submitted a copy of the route highlighted in red 

on what is believed to be an enlarged copy of the Ordnance Survey map of 

1817. This however does not appear to add any evidence to the claim, except 

to assist your Officers with identification of the alleged route. 

Page 7



 Page 4 

 

24. The Applicant has submitted a copy of the Online map with a pencil mark along 

the claimed route. This does not appear to hold any evidence but again assists 

your Officers with the identification of the alleged route.  

25. Turning to the Beau Desert plan of the early 1820’s, this shows (again in 

relation to the orientation of the plan) a visible feature on the ground running in a 

Southerly direction, along the Eastern side of Beggar’s Hill. This plan does not 

show the actual pools but clumps of trees. The claimed path almost turns at 

right angles in a North-Westerly direction at roughly the same point as that 

shown in the Ordnance Survey Map but it does not appear to link with Bridleway 

13. There is no evidence as to whether this is a public or private route. 

26. The submission which was received from the Landowner contends (within the 

Executive Summary), that the whole route needs to be reasonably alleged to 

exist for an Order to be made and considers that there is insufficient evidence 

for this claim. Your Officers have studied the evidence and also consider that 

there is insufficient evidence to be able to reasonably allege that the whole of 

the claimed route exists.  

  27. With regard to point 3 of the Landowner’s response, the evidence provided by 

the Applicant was limited and furthermore, the Ramblers Association and the 

Byways and Bridleways Trust have not provided any supporting evidence.  

28. The Landowner contends that the evidence provided by the Ordnance Survey 

map of 1817 to be of poor quality and considers that the route cannot be 

discerned from the plan that has been provided.  

29. The Beau Desert Estate Map does appear to provide evidence of a physical 

feature on the ground initially leading South-Westerly then turning at right angles 

and heading in a North-Westerly direction. Only part of the route appears to 

follow the line of the alleged route. However the Estate Map was prepared for 

private purposes and provides no evidence of whether it had a public or private 

status. It also can at best, only show part of the route. Your Officers consider 

that the weight of evidence of an Estate map together with the fact that the 

status of any visible features (of which there is only part of the claimed route) is 

not known, does make the evidence of very limited value.  

30. The Landowner raised concerns with regard to the origins of one of the Railway 

plans and the fact that only an extract from the Book of Reference had been 

included. On the larger scale plan, the Landowner contends that there is not a 

public right of way beyond parcel 27. Your Officers consider that the stretch of 

path that has been identified in the plan is very limited and does not join 

Bridleway 13. Furthermore, railway plans are only considered to be of limited 

supporting evidence by the courts. 

31. The Landowner has provided further Ordnance Survey maps for your Officer’s 

consideration which they contend do not show any features on the ground that 

could suggest the claimed route. These can be found with the Landowner’s 

Submission at Appendix J 

32. The Landowner has also submitted a Bartholomew map for the period 1897 to 

1907 for your Officer’s consideration. The Landowner contends that any route 

Page 8



 Page 5 

 

would have been shown had it been available and for public use.  This can be 

found at Appendix J.   

33. Turning now to the probity of the evidence, in relation to the railway plans, major 

works such as the construction of canals and railways were normally authorised 

by private Acts of Parliament. The reason for this was that in the 18 th and 19th 

Centuries there were no powers to acquire land compulsorily. Consequently, 

where there was a canal or railway planned the intended route was surveyed. 

From the surveys, plans and books of reference were compiled which showed 

who owned the land crossed by the proposed canal or railway. This then 

formed part of an Act of Parliament.  

34. The plan only recorded the details of the land crossed by the intended 

construction. As a result, only parts of the affected land were shown as is the 

case here. 

35. These Acts and plans should not be considered to be conclusive evidence but 

looked at and evaluated alongside other historical evidence. They should be 

regarded as good, or persuasive, evidence to support the alleged existence of a 

public right of way. 

36. Ordnance Survey maps date back to the early 1800’s and their purpose is to 

show physical features on the ground. In so doing they included all manner of 

ways from tracks leading only to remote properties, footpaths crossing fields, as 

well as the main highway. They do not distinguish between public and private 

rights of way and from 1888 the maps carried a disclaimer that the depiction of a 

way on a map did not mean it was public.  

37. The evidential value of Ordnance Survey maps has been considered by the 

courts to be limited solely to being evidence of whether there was a visible 

feature on the ground at the time of the survey. 

38. On their own Tithe maps and awards are not evidence as to the public nature of 

a particular route but may add to the supporting evidence. It is not on its own 

conclusive proof. The Tithe map in this situation does not add any evidence to 

support the claimed route. 

39. Estate maps were maps drawn up for the owners of private estates for their own 

use. They show physical evidence of a route but need to be approached with 

some caution as they were drawn up with a specific purpose for their owner. 

Some estate plans may distinguish between public and private ways, but are of 

limited value as evidence.  

40. The Bartholomew Maps are usually regarded to be of limited evidential value, but 

were favourites with tourists and cyclists who preferred the half inch to the mile 

scale. They were produced from the Ordnance Survey’s 1” to the Mile maps. The 

copy provided by the Landowner was published between 1897 and 1907. This 

therefore is of limited additional value to the Ordnance Survey maps. 

Burden and Standard of Proof  

41. Section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 requires the County 

Council to make such modifications to its Definitive Map and Statement as 

appear to it be requisite in consequence of certain ‘events’. In relation to the part 

Page 9



 Page 6 

 

of the route shown A to B the applicable section of the Wildlife and Countryside 

Act 1981 is 53(3)(c)(i).This section relates to the discovery of evidence of two 

separate events:           

(a) Evidence that a right of way which is not shown on the  

map subsists; OR       

(b) Evidence that a right of way, which is not shown on the map, is 

 reasonably alleged to subsist. 

 

42. Thus there are two separate tests, one of which must be satisfied before a 

Modification Order can be made. Some evaluation of the evidence and a 

judgement on that evidence must be made, before either question can be 

answered. 

43. For the first to be satisfied, it will be necessary to show that on a balance of 

probabilities the right of way does exist. 

44. For the second test to be satisfied, the question is whether a reasonable person 

could reasonably allege a right of way exists having considered all the relevant 

evidence available to the Council.  The evidence necessary to establish a right of 

way which is “reasonably alleged to subsist” over land must be less than that 

which is necessary to establish the right of way “subsists”. 

45. If a conclusion is reached that either test is satisfied, then then Definitive Map 

and Statement should be modified. 

Summary  

46. The Application is made under Section 53(2) of the 1981 Act, relying on the 

occurrence of the event specified in 53(3)(c)(i) of the Act.   

47. For the purposes of this application there are two relevant “events” which must 

occur before the Definitive Map and Statement can be modified. 

48. With regard to the existence of a claimed footpath between Bridleway 13 and 

Bridleway 25, it must be decided either on the balance of probabilities that a 

footpath subsists or alternatively can be reasonably alleged to subsist. 

49. If either part of the test is satisfied, then the Definitive Map and Statement can be 

modified. 

50. The panel must consider all of the available evidence and decide whether or not 

the evidence submitted and discovered supports the view that the routes have 

public footpath rights over them. A decision must be based on a consideration of 

all the available evidence. Matters relating to the desirability and suitability of 

having a public footpath are not part of the statutory criteria against which a 

decision can be made under Section 53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside 

Act 1981. 

Conclusion 

51. Your Officers have considered the evidence and it is your Officers opinion that 

the evidence fails to show that a public right of way, with the status of footpath, 

which is not shown on the Definitive Map and Statement is reasonably alleged to 

subsist. 

Page 10



 Page 7 

 

52. It is the opinion of your Officers that the County Council should not make a 

Modification Order for a footpath between points A and B as shown on the map 

at Appendix B on the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way. 

Recommended Option 

53.  To reject the Application based upon the reasons contained in the report and 

outlined above. 

Other options Available 

54. To decide to accept the Application to add the claimed way to the Definitive Map 

and Statement.  

Legal Implications 

55. The legal implications are contained within the report. 

Resource and Financial Implications  

56. The costs of determining applications are met from existing provisions.  

57. There are, however, additional resource and financial implications if decisions of 

the Registration Authority are challenged by way of appeal to the Secretary of 

State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs or a further appeal to the High 

Court for Judicial Review.  

Risk Implications  

58. In the event of the Council making an Order any person may object to that order 

and if such objections are not withdrawn the matter is referred to the Secretary of 

State for Environment under Schedule 14 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 

1981. The Secretary of State would appoint an Inspector to consider the matter 

afresh, including any representations or previously unconsidered evidence.  

59. The Secretary of State may uphold the Council’s decision and not confirm the 

Order; however there is always a risk that an Inspector may decide that the 

County Council should have made the Order. If the Secretary of State disregards 

the Council’s decision and considers that an Order should be made the Order 

may still be challenged by way of Judicial Review in the High Court. 

60. Should the Council decide not to make an Order the applicants may appeal that 

decision to the Secretary of State who will follow a similar process to that 

outlined above. After consideration by an Inspector the County Council could be 

directed to make an Order.   

61. If the Panel makes its decision based upon the facts, the applicable law and 

applies the relevant legal tests the risk of a challenge to any decision being 

successful, or being made, are lessened. There are no additional risk 

implications.  

Equal Opportunity Implications  

62. There are no direct equality implications arising from this report. 

 

 

Page 11



 Page 8 

 

J Tradewell  

Director for Corporate Services 

Report Author: Stephanie Clarkson 

Ext. No: 276292 

Background File: LH622G 

Page 12



 Page 9 

 

INDEX TO APPENDICES 

Appendix A Application Form 1 

Appendix B Alleged route marked A to B 

Appendix C Stafford and Rugby Railway plans and 

extract from the Book of Reference 

Appendix D Ordnance Survey map dated 1817, 1894, 

1902 and 1924 

Appendix E Ordnance Survey map of 1817 with route 

highlighted by applicant in red. 

Appendix F Traced Tithe Award map 1845  

Appendix G Copy of the Online map 

Appendix H Applicant’s typed up notes from 

Staffordshire Record Office. 

Appendix I Beau Desert Estate map 

Appendix J Birketts representation on behalf of 

Landowner including Landowner provided 

OS maps and Bartholomew map 

Appendix K Ramblers Association Email  

Appendix L Byways and Bridleways Trust Email 

 

Page 13





Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



 

ADDENDUM TO REPORT 

The below additional evidence was received following circulation of the second draft report: 

  
Email received on 07/02/2022 from Marcia Grice of Birketts LLP on behalf of Mr Peter 

Till (landowner adjoining the claimed route) to Stephanie Clarkson, Legal Officer, 

Staffordshire County Council  

 

“Thank you for your email and for the revised report. 

 

We agree with the recommendation within the report which advises that the Council 

considers that there is insufficient evidence for the claimed footpath.  We make the following 

comments, however, which we hope you will find helpful:- 

 

1. In the response which we submitted on 13 October 2021, we referred to two 
appendices - ‘Appendix 1’ and ‘Appendix 2’. For ease of reference they are 
attached.  We also followed up our response with a further plan, also attached, which 
was annotated with lettering referred to in the report.  For ease of reading and 
referencing could you please ensure that they are included and are clearly identified 
in your report.  Overall, clearer referencing and identification of the location of maps 
and documents in the body of the report would assist readers.   

2. In your paragraph 20.   You observe that the 1817 map shows a feature on the 
ground. In our view there is no feature which could be properly interpreted as a track 
or route.  The map is of very poor quality and is not possible to make a determination 
or interpretation as we set out in our response paragraph at 5.1.3. 

3. In your paragraph 43 we feel that there is some confusion as to the way in which the 
applicable test has been stated. The test at this stage (which is not met) is that the 
route can be reasonably alleged to exist.  The balance of probabilities test only 
applies at the confirmation stage.  
 

We hope that these comments are clear but please contact us if you have any questions.” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 59



 

Annotated plan 

 

 

 Appendix 1 

  
 

 

Page 60



Appendix 2 

 

Page 61



 

 

Page 62



 

 

 

 

Explanation concerning the salient point raised by the adjoining Landowner’s 

Solicitor - Stephanie Clarkson, Legal Officer 

Item 1 

In response to item 1, the annotated plan is illustrated above. Schedule 1 can be found in 

Appendix C and Appendix J of the report and Schedule 2 can be found in Appendix J. The 

addition of the annotated plan although a new piece of evidence, does not turn the case. 

The strengths and weaknesses of the remaining plans have already been discussed within 

the report.  

Page 63



Item 2 

The adjoining Landowner’s Solicitor considers that with regard to paragraph 20 within the 

report, there is no feature which could be properly interpreted as a track or route on the plan. 

They observe that the map is poor quality and that it is not possible to make a determination 

or interpretation. Their comments may be found in paragraph 5.1.3 of their Representation.   

Whilst the plan could be considered to be far from convincing, your officers aver that the 

feature on the ground of the 1817 is open to interpretation and considers that it does show a 

track or route. They do not consider that the map can be dismissed.   

Item 3 

Your officers consider that this has already been addressed in the body of the report. The 

report spells out the two tests for s 53(3)(c)(i) in paragraph 41 either of which must be 

satisfied to be able to consider that the claimed right exists. The report has outlined both 

tests. In light of the scarcity of evidence, your officers concentrated on the lower evidential 

burden test for the report, and whether it could be reasonably alleged that the footpath 

subsists based upon the evidence. Your officers believed that this test could not be satisfied, 

and your Officers recommendation is that an Order is not made to have the footpath 

registered on the Definitive Map and Statement.  

These comments do not turn or impact on the recommendation within the report.  

Page 64



Document is Restricted

Page 65

Agenda Item 6
Not for publication by virtue of paragraph(s) 2, 6a, 6b 
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972




	Agenda
	3 Minutes of meeting held on 18 February 2022
	4 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 - Public Footpath from Public Bridleway 25 to Public Bridleway 13, Colwich Parish
	5215067 - 5158558 - PDF - Report and appendices 12.1.22 Final Version
	5212042 - Revised Addendum 28.02.2022

	6 Exempt minutes of the meeting held on 18 February 2022

